**S 199557**

**S** \_\_\_\_\_

**COPY #**  
**SUPREME COURT**  
**FILED**

JAN 23 2012

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

**IN THE**  
**SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA**

=====  
**CITY OF SAN DIEGO, et al.,**  
*Plaintiffs and Appellants,*

*v.*

**BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE CALIFORNIA STATE UNIVERSITY,**  
*Defendant and Respondent.*

=====  
AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION ONE  
CASE No. D057446

=====  
**PETITION FOR REVIEW**  
=====

**HORVITZ & LEVY LLP**

JEREMY B. ROSEN (BAR No. 192473)  
BRADLEY S. PAULEY (BAR No. 187298)  
15760 VENTURA BOULEVARD, 18TH FLOOR  
ENCINO, CALIFORNIA 91436-3000  
(818) 995-0800 • FAX: (818) 995-3157

**ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. In *City of Marina v. Board of Trustees of California State University* (2006) 39 Cal.4th 341, 367 (*Marina*), a decision involving whether the Board of Trustees of the California State University (CSU) was obligated by the California Environmental Quality Act, Public Resources Code section 21000 et seq. (CEQA) to mitigate a project's significant off-site environmental impacts, a six-member majority of this Court stated that "a state agency's power to mitigate its project's effects through voluntary mitigation payments is ultimately subject to legislative control; if the Legislature does not appropriate the money, the power does not exist." In a

concurring opinion, Justice Chin disagreed, calling the majority's analysis on this point "dictum," and rejecting it on its merits, noting: "[W]ere the Legislature to reject such a request, arguably, the Trustees would still have responsibility and jurisdiction to contribute [to the project] from the CSU's general operating fund." (*Id.* at p. 372 (conc. opn. of Chin, J).)

In its published opinion here, the Court of Appeal rejected the majority opinion in *Marina* and instead agreed with Justice Chin, holding this Court's statement regarding mitigation in *Marina* is "dictum," is "not supported by any statute, regulation, case, or other authority," and "did not involve extensive analysis." (Typed opn., 29-32.) The Court of Appeal further observed, "had the California Supreme Court extensively addressed or analyzed the issue, *Marina* would have modified or qualified its dictum." (Typed opn., 32.)

In light of the above, does a state agency satisfy its obligation under CEQA to mitigate the off-site environmental impacts of a project by requesting funds for such mitigation from the Legislature, consistent with this Court's views as stated in *Marina*? Or, as the Court of Appeal held here in rejecting this Court's analysis in *Marina*, and, as Justice Chin suggested in his separate opinion in *Marina*, must the agency also address in its Environmental Impact Report (EIR) "[t]he availability of potential sources of funding other than the Legislature" and demonstrate "compelling reasons" showing those sources cannot, as a matter of law, be used to pay for mitigation?

2. Does an appellate court review an agency's decision to certify an EIR for abuse of discretion, upholding the agency's factual determinations where they are supported by substantial evidence, as long-established law requires? Or, are reviewing courts free to engage in de novo review of agencies' factual determinations, scrutinizing the supporting evidence anew and reversing an agency's EIR certification based on speculative matters outside the appellate record as the Court of Appeal did here?

**INTRODUCTION:  
WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED**

This case arises from the plan of CSU's Board of Trustees to expand educational opportunities at San Diego State University (SDSU) by adding an array of new academic, academic support and other educational and multi-purpose buildings, and significantly increasing student enrollment. As required by CEQA, in its EIR, CSU determined the project would result in significant traffic-related impacts in the vicinity of the SDSU campus. It therefore sought funds from the Legislature to pay to mitigate those impacts. However, because CSU could not guarantee that the Legislature would appropriate the requested funds, it further determined that the impacts were "unavoidable" and adopted a statement of overriding considerations determining that, given its substantial benefits to the state and local community, the project should nonetheless proceed.



The City of San Diego (the City) and other local government entities sued, challenging CSU's approval of the project and certification of the EIR. The trial court determined that CSU had complied with CEQA when it approved the project. The Court of Appeal reversed in an 83-page published opinion that rejected this Court's majority opinion in *Marina* regarding an agency's inability to mitigate off-site impacts if the Legislature refuses to appropriate the necessary money, and instead adopted the contrary reasoning of Justice Chin's separate concurring opinion. (Typed opn., 33.) Based on its apparent de novo review of the record, the Court of Appeal also set aside factual findings CSU made during the administrative process regarding the project's potential effect on trolley service, and the propriety of a program to reduce and manage vehicle traffic near the campus. As we explain, this Court should grant review to secure uniformity of decision on these important issues.

First, this Court should grant review to clarify that it meant what it said in *Marina*: a state agency fulfills its obligations with respect to funding mitigation of off-site impacts under CEQA by requesting the necessary funds from the Legislature and, absent such an appropriation, the power to mitigate does not exist. (*Marina, supra*, 39 Cal.4th at p. 367.) Echoing Justice Chin's separate opinion in *Marina*, however, the Court of Appeal held the majority's statements are dicta that need not be followed, and further speculated that if this Court had analyzed the issue more carefully it would have reached a different conclusion. (Typed opn., 29-32.) On that basis, the Court of Appeal proceeded to invalidate CSU's approval of the project and certification of the EIR, holding

CSU must first address “[t]he availability of potential sources of funding other than the Legislature” and demonstrate “compelling reasons showing those sources cannot, as a matter of law, be used to pay for mitigation . . . .” (Typed opn., 33.)

Contrary to the Court of Appeal’s holding, state agencies should not be required to identify every other conceivable source of funding and demonstrate why each possible source is unavailable as a matter of law before an EIR may be certified and a project may proceed. But in any event, this Court should grant review regardless of whether its views as stated in *Marina* are correct given the confusion and lack of uniformity engendered by the Court of Appeal’s decision, which now makes it impossible for state agencies to know what they must do to meet CEQA’s mitigation requirements.

Second, this Court should grant review to restore uniformity to the law concerning the standard of review used to evaluate an agency’s decision to certify an EIR under CEQA. Until now, the case law has been clear that an agency’s decision to approve an EIR is reviewed for abuse of discretion. (*Marina, supra*, 39 Cal.4th at p. 355.) But here, the Court of Appeal repeatedly went outside the appellate record and took it upon itself to second-guess CSU’s factual findings, effectively employing de novo review. (Typed opn., 33, 58-62, 79-81, fn. 25.) Review is needed to avoid confusion and to underscore the need for judicial deference to agencies’ factual findings.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

- A. CSU approves an important planned expansion of SDSU and certifies the project's EIR. The City and others sue, challenging the EIR.**

CSU is a 23-campus public university system, with approximately 450,000 students and 23,000 faculty members. (AR 20:20069, 20075, 20077.) CSU's mission is to provide quality higher education so that graduating students can contribute to California's economy, culture, and future. (AR-20:20070.) Specific to SDSU, the campus is a critical component of the San Diego region's higher education system, serving approximately 34,000 students during the 2006/2007 academic year. (AR-18:18206.) SDSU contributes a total of \$2.4 billion annually in direct, indirect, and induced output into the San Diego regional economy from university and student spending, which equates to approximately \$308 million in tax revenue. (AR-18:18207.) By 2025, SDSU will contribute approximately \$4.5 billion in spending annually, and about \$587 million to the regional tax base. (AR-18:18208-9.)

In furtherance of its mission, in 2005, CSU approved a significant planned expansion of SDSU (the project) and certified an EIR for the project. (AR-5:4401, 4403-5; 15:14156.) The project's Master Plan is designed to accommodate 20 years of campus development, and identifies buildings and facilities needed to facilitate that growth. (AR-15:14157-14160, 14240-14243; 19:18446, 18571-18572, 18644.) The project is intended to allow SDSU to

meet projected increases in demand for higher education by increasing student enrollment and enhancing SDSU's role as an outstanding undergraduate, graduate and research university in the San Diego area. (AR-15:14157.)

As approved, the project entailed the construction of new academic, academic support and other buildings, and an expansion of student enrollment from 25,000 to 35,000 full-time equivalent students by the 2024/2025 academic year. (AR-1:89-109.) The City and others filed a petition in the Superior Court challenging the project's EIR as inadequate under CEQA. (AR-15:14156.)

**B. CSU sets aside its original EIR in response to this Court's decision in *Marina*, revises the project's master plan and issues a new draft EIR.**

In 2006, while litigation challenging the project's EIR was pending, this Court issued its decision in *Marina*, which concerned CSU's plans to expand another one of its campuses. (*Marina, supra*, 39 Cal.4th at pp. 341, 345.) In light of *Marina's* holding that CSU was obligated to attempt to mitigate off-site impacts, CSU set aside its earlier decision to certify its EIR and approve the SDSU project. (AR-15:14156.) The trial court entered judgment consistent with CSU's action and issued a writ of mandate setting aside the 2005 EIR. (CT-3:753-756.) The court retained jurisdiction pending CSU's revision of the SDSU project and preparation of a new EIR in compliance with CEQA. (*Ibid.*)

In 2007, CSU substantially revised its master plan for the project and prepared a new EIR. It released the draft EIR for public comment (AR-15:14163) and held numerous meetings to solicit comments about the project and the EIR from government agencies and the local community. (AR-19:18295-18358, 18359-18383, 18572-185733, 18667-18672, 18677-18680.)

The draft EIR determined the project would result in significant impacts to certain roadways and intersections in the vicinity of the SDSU campus. (AR-15:14807, 14816-14847.) Roadway improvements were identified as the best way to mitigate the off-campus traffic impacts. (AR-15:14863-14872; 18:17593-17602.) The draft EIR calculated CSU's fair-share contribution percentages for each of the roadway improvement mitigation measures according to a formula used by the City. (AR-18:17593-17602, 17603-17604.)

**C. The City and other government entities comment on the draft EIR. CSU's efforts to negotiate its mitigation obligations fail.**

In its comments on the draft EIR, the City stated that CSU's calculated fair-share contribution percentages were "unacceptable," and that CSU should be responsible for 100 percent of certain roadway improvement costs. (AR-18:17152-17153, 17262.) CSU attempted to negotiate with the City and other government entities regarding the amount of CSU's fair-share contribution for off-site mitigation. (AR-18:17151.)

Though no agreement was reached, CSU acknowledged it was obligated to request funds from the Legislature to pay for traffic impact mitigation (AR-18:17151, 17162-17163, 17693-17705; 21:20339, 20349-20350) and ultimately requested \$6,437,860 to fund off-campus roadway improvements. (AR-18:17153-4; 20:20052, 20064-20065.) This was not simply a one-time request. In recognition of its ongoing obligation under *Marina* to mitigate off-site impacts, in CSU's five-year capital improvement program for 2008-09 through 2012-13, it placed particular emphasis on funding for off-site environmental mitigation efforts, including at SDSU. (AR-20:20053, 20055.) Since then, CSU has adopted additional capital improvement programs that likewise recognize the ongoing need for legislative appropriations to fund mitigation of off-site environmental impacts. (CT-4:895-905.) And with regard to the SDSU project, CSU will seek off-site mitigation funding as necessary in connection with future EIRs prepared for specific projects under the Master Plan.

The San Diego Association of Governments (SANDAG) asserted that, as a result of the project, CSU was responsible for approximately \$193 million in regional transportation improvements, including improvements to transit (buses and trolleys). (AR-18:17158-17159; 17191-17192.) A trolley line operated by the San Diego Metropolitan Transit System (MTS) serves SDSU.<sup>1</sup> (AR-18:17231.) However, SANDAG offered no

---

<sup>1</sup> SANDAG suggested the EIR consider trolley use to help meet the travel demands associated with the project, reduce air quality impacts, and reduce parking demand. (AR-16:15271.)

evidence the project would have significant transit impacts. (AR-18:17159.) In response to SANDAG's request that the EIR address the MTS trolley system's "capacity limitations," CSU considered the available information, which was based on SANDAG's own published data, and concluded the project would result in no significant impacts on transit.<sup>2</sup> (AR-18:17229-17232; 19:18517.)

MTS was largely silent regarding transit impacts until the day before CSU's hearing to consider final approval of the project, when it submitted written comments. In those comments, MTS opined, without citation to evidence, that it was "unlikely" MTS could expand service to support the draft EIR's transit assumptions, and that an additional \$27 million would be needed to serve future campus ridership. (AR-27:22577-22578.)

In response to SANDAG's comments on the draft EIR, CSU added a mitigation measure, TCP-27, providing for the preparation of a Transportation Demand Management program (including such measures as the promotion of rideshare programs, transit use, vanpools and bicycles) in consultation with SANDAG and MTS. (AR-18:17237-17238; see also AR-17:17237-17239.) Because trolley ridership had not yet achieved its full potential, the EIR noted a comprehensive program was unnecessary in the near term. The EIR required that the program be implemented by the 2012/2013 academic year, "with the ultimate goal of reducing vehicle trips to

---

<sup>2</sup> With regard to the project's likely impact on transit use, the SDSU traffic engineer calculated that, over an 18 year period, the project would add a total of 6,898 trolley riders using the SDSU station by 2024/2025. (AR-15:14797.)

campus in favor of alternate modes of travel.” (AR-18:17514, 17602; 19:18563.)

**D. CSU certifies the final EIR and approves the revised project.**

CSU completed the final EIR in November 2007. (AR-17:16908-16914.) After a hearing and public testimony, it certified the final EIR as adequate under CEQA, approved the project and the corresponding increase in student enrollment, and approved \$6,484,000 in off-campus fair-share mitigation funding for roadway improvements. (AR-19:18612-18615, 18617-18619, 18620.)

CSU’s Trustees made findings under CEQA regarding the unavailability of significant off-site impacts that stated, in relevant part:

[B]ecause CSU cannot guarantee that its request . . . for the necessary mitigation funding will be approved, . . . , or that the funding will be granted in the amount requested, or that the public agencies will fund the mitigation improvements that are within their responsibility and jurisdiction, *the identified significant impacts are determined to be significant and unavoidable.*

(AR-19:18466, 18617, emphasis added.)

CSU’s Board of Trustees also adopted a statement of overriding considerations in which it concluded the project’s overriding and substantial benefits outweighed its unavoidable environmental effects and, accordingly, the project should proceed. (AR-19:18522, 18618.) In addition to the expansion of educational



opportunities, by 2025, the project is expected to result in \$4.5 billion in annual spending by SDSU, a contribution of \$588 million to the regional tax base, and the addition of 22,800 jobs to the regional economy. (AR-18:17174-17175.)

**E. The City, SANDAG and MTS sue, challenging CSU's certification of the final EIR and approval of the revised project. The Superior Court upholds the final EIR.**

In December 2007, the City and its Redevelopment Agency (collectively, the City), along with SANDAG and MTS, filed petitions for writs of mandate in the trial court challenging CSU's certification of the final EIR and approval of the revised project. (CT-1:1-50.) The trial court upheld the final EIR, finding CSU had complied with its CEQA obligations as clarified in *Marina*. (CT-7:1622-1653, 1662-1664.) The City, SANDAG and MTS appealed.

**F. The Court of Appeal reverses, holding CSU did not comply with its CEQA mitigation obligations and that CSU's factual findings in the final EIR were not supported by substantial evidence.**

On appeal, the City, SANDAG and MTS argued the trial court erred when it concluded CSU had complied with CEQA by finding off-site impacts would be unavoidable if the Legislature failed to approve CSU's request for funding, and by concluding the final EIR

was not required to address potential alternative sources of funds to pay for off-site mitigation costs. (Typed opn., 14.) They also challenged CSU's factual findings, including the finding that the project would have no significant impact on transit, and the finding that the Transportation Demand Management program was an appropriate way to achieve mitigation of increased traffic around the campus under CEQA. (Typed opn., 58, 62-63.)

In an 83-page published opinion, the Court of Appeal reversed and directed the trial court to issue a writ of mandate "ordering CSU to void its certification of the [final EIR] and adoption of [CSU's factual findings] and to void its approval of the Project based on noncompliance with CEQA. . . ." (Typed opn., 83.) The Court of Appeal rejected CSU's reliance on this Court's opinion in *Marina* that "a state agency's power to mitigate its project's effects through voluntary mitigation payments is ultimately subject to legislative control; if the Legislature does not appropriate the money, the power does not exist." (*Marina, supra*, 39 Cal.4th at p. 367.) It concluded the statement is "dictum because it was not necessary for the holding or disposition" and need not be followed. (Typed opn., 29.) The Court of Appeal also observed that this Court's statement "is not supported by any statute, regulation, case, or other authority." (Typed opn., 32.) It then surmised that "had the California Supreme Court extensively addressed or analyzed the issue, *Marina* would have modified or qualified its dictum." (*Ibid.*)

The Court of Appeal then held CSU erred by assuming its mitigation obligations were contingent on receiving funding from the Legislature, and likewise erred by concluding that, absent such

funding, off-site traffic impacts would be unavoidable. (Typed opn., 33, 35.) Instead, according to the Court of Appeal, CSU was required to address “[t]he availability of potential sources of funding other than the Legislature” in its draft and final EIR’s. (Typed opn., 33.) Moreover, “all of those potential sources should not be deemed ‘infeasible’ sources for CSU’s ‘fair-share’ funding . . . without a comprehensive discussion of those sources and compelling reasons showing those sources cannot, as a matter of law, be used to pay for mitigation of the significant off-site environmental effects of the Project.” (*Ibid.*) On this basis, the Court of Appeal invalidated both CSU’s finding that off-site traffic impacts would be unavoidable in the event the Legislature failed to appropriate funds, and the related statement of overriding considerations. (Typed opn., 35-36.)

The Court of Appeal also rejected CSU’s factual findings that the project would have no significant impact on transit, explaining “there is insufficient evidence in the administrative record to support CSU’s finding” and that those findings were based on “evidence that is clearly inaccurate or erroneous.” (Typed opn., 79, 82.)

Finally, the Court of Appeal rejected CSU’s factual finding that the EIR’s mitigation measure TCP-27, providing for the implementation of a Transportation Demand Management program by 2012/2013, was a proper mitigation measure that would be effective to achieve its goal of reducing vehicle trips to the SDSU campus. (Typed opn., 61; see also AR-18:17514, 17602; 19:18563.)

## LEGAL ARGUMENT

### I. REVIEW IS NECESSARY TO CLARIFY WHETHER A STATE AGENCY SATISFIES ITS CEQA OBLIGATIONS TO MITIGATE OFF-SITE ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS BY REQUESTING FUNDS FOR SUCH MITIGATION FROM THE LEGISLATURE.

- A. In *Marina*, this Court held a state agency's power to mitigate off-site impacts is subject to the Legislature's control and, if the Legislature fails to appropriate funds for off-site mitigation, the power to mitigate does not exist.

In *Marina*, this Court, in an opinion signed by six justices, decided whether CSU was obligated to fund the mitigation of off-site environmental impacts of a campus development project. There, CSU had certified the project's EIR, asserting that the off-site improvements were the exclusive responsibility of a local government agency, that such mitigation was infeasible because CSU could not legally contribute to such improvements, and the planned campus expansion offered overriding benefits that outweighed any unmitigated effects on the environment. (*Marina, supra*, 39 Cal.4th at p. 351.) This Court held CSU was obligated to mitigate off-site impacts, and that if CSU could not do so directly,

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