Supreme Court Case No. S199557

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SAN DIEGO ASSOCIATION OF GOVERNMENTS and SAN DIEGO METROPOLITAN TRANSIT SYSTEM,

Petitioners and Appellants,

v.

BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE CALIFORNIA STATE UNIVERSITY,

Defendant and Respondent.

SUPREME COURT

FILED

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

FFR 15 2012

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District Division One

Case No. D057446

From the Judgment of the Superior Court of the State of California, County of San Diego, Honorable Thomas Nugent San Diego Superior Court, CRC 8.25(b)

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

In contrast, questions which turn "predominately" upon the validity of a lead agency's factual judgments and conclusions governs the substantial evidence test. (Vineyard Area Citizens, 40 Cal.4th 412, 435; Ebbetts Pass Forest Watch v. California Dept. of Forestry & Fire Protection (2008) 43 Cal.4th 936, 944 and 954.) Under the substantial evidence test, the Court must generally defer to a lead agency's factually based findings and conclusions. (Id.; see, generally, Laurel Heights Improvement Assn. v. Regents of University of California (1988) 47 Cal.3d 376, 392-393 and 407-408.) But even the substantial evidence test does not command blind deference to agency decisions. Instead, the reviewing court "must scrutinize the record" to determine if the agency's determinations are actually supported by substantial evidence. (Laurel Heights, 47 Cal.3d 376, 408.) Courts do not defer to findings or conclusions that are simply baseless or rest on wholly illogical assumptions or hopelessly strained inferences. (See, e.g., Gray v. County of Madera (2008) 167 Cal. App. 4th 1099, 1116-1117 ["Law is not required to abandon common sense."].)

As discussed below, all of CSU's claims of error applying the standard of review depend at least in part upon arguing, incorrectly, that the Court of Appeal should have applied the substantial evidence standard to issues that are fundamentally procedural in nature, and thus subject to an entirely different standard.

C. The Court of Appeal Did Not Misapply the Applicable Standards of Review

CSU cites three specific instances in which it believes the Court of Appeal misapplied the standard of review. In each case, CSU contends that the Court of Appeal improperly ignored factual findings or determinations made by CSU during the administrative process despite the fact they were

supported by "substantial evidence." In each instance, however, CSU simply confuses the applicable standard of review and ignores or misrepresents the actual decision of the Court of Appeal.

As this Court has previously observed, the substantial evidence test does not govern judicial review for errors that are fundamentally procedural in nature, including failures to provide basic, legally required information in an EIR, or reliance on erroneous legal conclusions or standards. (*Vineyard Area Citizens*, 40 Cal.4th 412, 435; *City of Marina*, 39 Cal.4th 341, 366, 355.) Thus, in arguing that the Court of Appeal failed to give proper heed to CSU's factual findings on specified issues, CSU is essentially attacking a straw man. Moreover, as noted where appropriate, CSU also often ignores the fact it never actually made the findings or reached the purported conclusions it would like the Court to defer to, or that the Court of Appeal actually did review evidence cited by CSU, and determined it simply did not amount to substantial evidence.

1. Availability of Alternate Mitigation Funds

CSU contends the Court of Appeal ignored its factual finding that traffic impacts of the project were "significant and unavoidable" because CSU could not guarantee that mitigation funds would be appropriated by the Legislature. CSU also accuses the Court of Appeal from going "outside the record" to conclude that other sources of funding might be available. (Petition at pp. 23-24.)

The argument misrepresents the issue actually decided by the Court. The fundamental error found by the Court of Appeal with respect to CSU's mitigation of off-site traffic impacts is that CSU relied on the legally incorrect premise that CSU was not required to consider any source of funding for a traffic mitigation program other than a request to an

appropriation of funds to the Legislature. (AR 19{297}18465; Slip Opn. at pp. 35-37.) This type of error is also fundamentally *legal* in nature, meaning that a reviewing court exercises its independent judgment as to whether the respondent proceeded in the manner required by law. (*City of Marina*, 39 Cal.4th 341, 355-356; *Vineyard Area Citizens*, 40 Cal.4th 412, 435.) As this Court held in *City of Marina*, "An EIR that incorrectly disclaims the power and duty to mitigate identified environmental effects based on erroneous legal assumptions is not sufficient as an informative document." (*City of Marina*, 39 Cal.4th 341, 356.) CSU cannot overcome this error by contending there was substantial evidence to support the conclusions it reached based on legally impermissible assumptions.

CSU's claim that the Court of Appeal relied on impermissible speculation are also without merit. As appellant City of San Diego demonstrated in its briefs, the record is replete with references to other sources of funds that CSU might utilize for mitigation purposes. For example, literally none of the major new building facilities CSU will add as part of the Campus Expansion project will be funded by the Legislature. All will be financed with other sources of revenue such as bond revenues, parking fees, donor funds or partnerships with private developers. (See Appellants' The City of San Diego and Redevelopment Agency of the City of San Diego's Opening Brief, pp. 29-30; AR 20{322}20244-20246.) There is no reason CSU could not have considered using the same sources of funds for mitigation of impacts directly related to the campus expansion. In making this observation, the Court of Appeal was doing no more than applying common sense to the facts presented in the record.

2. <u>Significant Effects on Transit Facilities and Use</u>

CSU next complains the Court of Appeal failed to defer to CSU's findings, such as they were, that the Campus Expansion Project would not have any significant adverse impacts on transit use or facilities. (Petition at pp. 24-25.) This argument again ignores the actual nature of the legal error found by the Court of Appeal. (Slip Opn. at pp. 71-77.) Moreover, the Court of Appeal *did* fully consider the so-called evidence in the record supporting CSU's exculpatory boiler-plate finding concerning transit impacts, and found there was no substantial evidence to support this finding. (Slip Opn. at pp. 78-82; see "finding" re transit impacts at AR 19{297}18516-18517.)

The fundamental error found by the Court of Appeal with respect to transit-related impacts was CSU's complete failure to undertake any actual investigation or evaluation of those impacts. (Slip Opn. at pp. 71-77.) Instead, and despite the fact that CSU predicted massive increases of public transit use caused by the Project, the Draft EIR contained no discussion whatsoever concerning the potential impacts of this increased ridership on existing transit facilities, service levels or system capacity. When this defect was pointed out by SANDAG in comments on the draft EIR, CSU responded with a series of essentially legal rationalizations, which are set forth in the Court of Appeal opinion. (AR 18{264}17229-17231; Slip Opn. at pp. 66-70.) CSU, however, did not undertake any actual substantive investigation or evaluation of transit-related impacts. CSU's basic argument on appeal is that the Final EIR's failure to further analyze transit-related impacts, and its cursory findings that there would be no such impacts, were justified by SANDAG's and MTS' failure to provide information demonstrating such impacts. The Court of Appeal correctly found that CSU, as a lead agency

under CEQA, could not blame its failure to obtain and discuss relevant information on other public agencies. (Slip Opn. at pp. 71-77.)

This error was fundamentally procedural in nature, and not subject to review under the substantial evidence test. (See *Bakersfield Citizens*, 124 Cal.App.4th 1184, 1208.) First, CEQA imposes an affirmative duty on lead agencies to investigate and evaluate potentially significant environmental effects. (Slip Opn. at pp. 74-76.) Second, even if a lead agency concludes that a potential environmental effect will not actually be significant, it must set forth a brief statement of reasons supporting this conclusion in the EIR. (Slip Opn. at pp. 78-79; 14 Cal. Code Regs. § 15128; *Protect the Historic Amador Waterways v. Amador Water Agency* (2004) 116 Cal.App.4th 1099, 1110-1111.) CSU could not rationalize away these duties by claiming that other parties failed to provide the relevant information in the first instance. As this Court noted in *City of Marina*, reliance on an erroneous legal position or premise is itself legal error which the Court reviews under an independent judgment standard, without deference to the lead agency. (*City of Marina*, 39 Cal.4th 341, 355-356 and 365-366.)

Although the Court of Appeal could have stopped its analysis there, it fully reviewed the evidence in the record to determine whether there was any factual support for CSU's purported ultimate finding that there would be no significant transit-related impacts. The court concluded there was none. (Slip Opn. at pp. 78-82.) Even if one were to disagree with the Court of Appeal on this point, the issue is hardly one warranting Supreme Court review. There is, however, also no reason to doubt the Court of Appeal's conclusions on this point. What CSU is really attempting to do is fault the Court of Appeal for adhering to this Court's mandate that reviewing courts carefully "scrutinize the record" to determine whether a decision is actually

supported by substantial evidence, rather than blindly defer to agency rationalizations. (*Laurel Heights*, 47 Cal.3d 376, 408.)

3. The Purported "Finding" Regarding the Effectiveness of

Mitigation Measure TCP-27

CSU's final claim is that the Court of Appeal failed to defer to CSU's "factual finding that [mitigation measure] TCP-27 would be effective to mitigate the project's traffic impacts." (Petition at p. 25; see Slip Opn. at pp. 58-62.) CSU again misstates the actual issued decided by the Court of Appeal and the governing standard of review. It also ignores the fact that there was no actual finding or determination — or even any discussion — concerning the effectiveness of mitigation measure TCP-27 anywhere in the record.

Mitigation Measure TCP-27 was added to the Final EIR in response to comments from SANDAG. (AR 18{264}17238.) It calls for preparation of a Transportation Demand Management ("TDM") program of unspecified contents which will have the goal "of reducing vehicle trips to campus in favor of alternate modes of travel." (AR 18{275}17602, full text in margin; Slip Opn. at p. 60.)

The full test of Mitigation Measure TCP-27 is as follows:

SDSU shall develop a campus Transportation Demand Management ("TDM") program to be implemented no later than the commencement of the 2012/2013 academic year. The TDM program shall be developed in consultation with the San Diego Association of Governments ("SANDAG") and Metropolitan Transit System ("MTS") and shall facilitate a balanced approach to mobility, with the ultimate goal of reducing vehicle trips to campus in favor of alternate modes of travel. (AR {275}17602, Slip Opn. at p. 60.)

Had CSU indeed found that mitigation measure TCP-27 would be "effective" in significantly reducing actual traffic impacts, the Court of Appeal would, as discussed below, have been well justified in holding that this finding was not supported by substantial evidence. The actual error found by the Court of Appeal, however, was procedural in nature. Mitigation Measure TCP-27 on its face is inadequate to constitute a valid mitigation measure under CEQA. (Slip Opn. pp. 58-62.) The Court of Appeal relied on a long line of cases that have held that a lead agency may not defer formulation of the core provisions of mitigation measures to be implemented in the future until some time after the close of public review of the EIR and initial approval of the project. (See, e.g., Communities for a Better Environment, 184 Cal. App. 4th 70, 92-94; San Joaquin Raptor Rescue Center v. County of Merced (2007) 149 Cal. App. 4th 645, 669-671; 14 Cal. Code Regs. § 15126.4(a)(1)(B).) As these cases have explained, formulation of the full details of mitigation measures may sometimes be deferred until more complete information is available, but such a deferral is permissible only where the lead agency has identified the concrete measures or types of measures that will be considered, formally committed itself to implementation of the measures ultimately selected, and adopted a specific performance criteria or standards that the mitigation program must satisfy. (See Endangered Habitats League, Inc. v. County of Orange (2005) 131 Cal. App. 4th 777, 794; Defend the Bay v. City of Irvine (2004) 119 Cal.App.4th 1261, 1275-1277; Gentry v. City of Murietta (1995) 36 Cal.App.4th 1359, 1394-1395.)

Mitigation Measure TCP-27 obviously fails the test. The EIR fails to identify any specific concrete measures *whatsoever* that might actually be included in the TDM plan. Further, while Mitigation Measure TCP-27 states

a *goal* "of reducing vehicle trips to campus in favor of alternate modes of travel," this is not an objective performance standard against which the effectiveness of the future TDM can be judged. It is simply a vague and unenforceable statement of good intentions. (See *San Joaquin Raptor Rescue*, 149 Cal.App.4th 645, 670 [identification of stated goal not substitute for specific performance standard]; *Gray v. County of Madera*, 167 Cal.App.4th 1099, 1119 [same].) Mitigation Measure TCP-27 is thus legally deficient on its face, even were there some evidence in the record that it would be "effective" in accomplishing some measurable level of traffic mitigation.

CSU's claim of error here fails on additional grounds. There is no identifiable finding or conclusion in the record that Mitigation Measure TCP-27 would be "effective" in reducing traffic impacts in any amount. There is also no identifiable evidence that TCP-27 would be effective, which should come as no surprise since the EIR does not even explain precisely what sorts of concrete mitigation measures might be included in the future TDM program. As noted above, Mitigation Measure TCP-27 was added to the Final EIR in response to comments from SANDAG regarding the Draft EIR's inadequate traffic mitigation program. (AR 18{264}17238.) The Final EIR, however, contains no actual substantive discussion of this mitigation measure or how "effective" it would be, or even precisely what types of measures might be included in the TDM program. CSU's ultimate findings for the project also contain no substantive discussion of Mitigation Measure TCP-27 by itself. (AR 19{297}18465-18474.) Instead, the findings conclude that all of the traffic mitigation measures proposed by CSU put together would not fully mitigate traffic impacts, even if funding for CSU's "fair-share" monetary contributions were approved by the

Legislature. (AR 19{297}18466.) There was thus no administrative finding or determination concerning the effectiveness of Mitigation Measure TCP-27 to defer to, let alone any identifiable evidence that the measure would be "effective" in accomplishing any significant level of mitigation in practice.

V. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

Petitioner CSU has not shown that the Court of Appeal committed any legal error, much less that the decision of the Court of Appeal conflicts with decisions of this Court or other courts of appeal, or otherwise raises any questions requiring review by this Court. The petition for review should be denied and the case remanded so that CSU may finally comply with its legal obligations under CEQA.

DATE: February 14, 2012

By:

Margaret M. Sohagi Philip A. Seymour

Nicole H. Gordon

THE SOHAGI LAW GROUP, PLC Attorneys for Petitioners/Appellants SAN DIEGO ASSOCIATION OF

GOVERNMENTS and

SAN DIEGO METROPOLITAN

TRANSIT SYSTEM

W:\C\192\012\00192319.DOC